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BASIC DETAILS 
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Summary 
 

Purton Green was one of Landmark’s earliest acquisitions and one of which we have 
always been especially proud. Not only is it the sole survivor from one of Suffolk’s many 
lost villages, it is an extremely rare survival in itself – the core of a mid-thirteenth century 
timber-framed hall-house. Around this, successive phases of repair and alteration have 
been carried out - most recently our own in 1970-71.  

 

It was the discovery in 1970 of the arcade at the low end of the hall that puts the 
building among the rarest of the rare. The hall itself is dated to the 13th century chiefly 
by the two cross frames which support the roof with scissor-braces (or more correctly 
passing-braces). They were a form widely used in manorial houses between 1150 and 
1300 and recorded examples, although growing in number, are still few. This is not just 
because of their great age, but also because around 1300, this construction method was 
superseded by arch-bracing and crown-posts both on grounds of taste and of greater 
strength. Most early halls were rebuilt, or were altered in one way or another, and 
survive only as fragments, as here.   

 

To summarise what happened at Purton Green, the walls and north end were rebuilt soon 
after 1400, and the south end was rebuilt about 1600. At the same time, as in nearly all 
small medieval halls, an upper floor and chimney stack were inserted, and all signs of 
early origin vanished from sight for over 300 years. In 1970, these later additions were 
removed to reinstate the open hall. But it is one of the joys of visiting such a building to 
decode it for oneself, and so the main phases are given in more detail below. 

 

About 1270-80   

A new house built, possibly by Walter de Priditon, Steward to the Earl Marshal, who held 
the manor of Priditon or Purton Hall in 1275. The house was timber- framed, with a 
thatched roof, its central open hall about thirty feet long. An open truss, strengthened by 
passing-braces, stood half way along to support the roof. The rafters continued beyond 
the main posts to cover "aisles" on either side, making the hall nearly as wide as it was 
long. An open hearth stood in the southern half, and smoke escaped through vents at 
one or both ends of the main ridge of the roof. A second, "closed", truss at the north or 
low end of the hall formed a partition between it and a probably two-storey end bay, 
with pantry and buttery on the ground floor and sleeping space above. In the lower part 
of this partition was an arcade of six arches, three blind and three with doors. At the 
south or high end of the hall there may also have been private rooms for the owner's 
family, but evidence for them has been lost in later rebuilding.   

1400-50  Outer walls rebuilt some two feet inside the old for greater height, reducing  
the width of the aisles, and of the outer arches of the arcade in the low end  partition. 
North end upper floor rebuilt and extended with a jetty, and roof altered to give more 
headroom. Partition between low end and hall plastered, arcade mutilated and covered 
up, a stair built in one of the central doorways, and a plaster flue introduced above the 
collar to take smoke from the hall.    

About 1600  Purton Green now a farmhouse, if a prosperous one. Floor inserted into the 
open hall, and a chimney built just south of the central truss. A new front door enters a 
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lobby beside the chimneystack. The entire south end rebuilt, with a parlour on the ground 
floor, which had a projecting oriel window. As at the north end, the first floor area was 
increased by means of a jetty.     

 

18th century and later  From before 1780 until the late 19th century Purton Green Farm 
was occupied by  the Pratts. Gradual updating of interior, walls replastered, new 
fireplaces, front doorcase and door, windows, etc. Chimney added north end. Wing 
added on north-east corner is not shown on the 1840 Tithe Map, so is presumably later.   

 
Restoration 
 
When we began work we had no indication from the outside of the importance of the 
house, or its early origin. The exterior walls had been plastered over, covering the 
timbers, and the inside divided up. The first job was to unpick the fabric leaving only the 
timber frame.  Discoveries quickly followed, of which the most exciting was the evidence 
in the low end partition for the arcade. Another was the hearth, which proved the 
existence of the second bay of the hall.  
 
The front wall of the hall was so decayed, it had to be rebuilt entirely. Elsewhere, the 
frame was carefully repaired, reusing as much of the old timber as possible, and only 
using new to replace missing sections in such a way which permitted them to always be 
identified as replacements.  
 
The low end itself assumed its present form in the later Middle Ages (although the base 
of an 18th-century chimney has been left as evidence of later changes). So little 
evidence exists for its earliest arrangement, that any reconstruction - of a stair on the 
east side for example - would have been entirely conjectural. The late medieval stair was 
to be rebuilt, therefore, using timber salvaged from the bell-frame of Sudbury church. 
This decision, in turn, had implications for the repair of the arcade. 

 
The evidence was there for the arcade's complete reinstatement. However, it had been 
severely mutilated, and the doorways altered, in one case to allow headroom for the 
same stair that was now to be rebuilt. The solution was to reinstate the three arches 
which we knew to have been blank giving the posts their capitals, and restoring the 
plank infill; and to leave the doors in their altered condition. 
 
The hall as found consisted of just one bay. Removal of floor and chimney stack allowed 
the surviving 13th-century structure to be seen complete, with the central truss free-
standing.  
 
Wherever possible, materials salvaged from the building were re-used. So the wall 
between hall and south end is built of bricks from the chimney stack. In the roof, smoke-
blackened (therefore medieval or Tudor) thatching spars, found reused in various parts of 
the roof, were reused again. Window mullions found in the 19th century stair were used 
for a new window in the south-east corner of the hall.  
 
The new partitions, and stair, make no pretence to be other than what they are, 
additions of 1971. And the open hall still plays its part in the life of those who stay here, 
as a space to cross, to hold feasts in, or - as in the past - as a dry place to play. 
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Introduction 

‘Every researcher looks forward to the excitement of discovering the heavy soot-
encrusted timbers of the roof of an open hall hidden away in the attic of a much 
altered farmhouse.’ 1   

 

This is precisely what happened at Purton Green Farm. In 1965, the year of the 

foundation of the Landmark Trust, George and Sylvia Colman investigated a derelict and 

apparently ordinary farmhouse, and discovered that it contained an extraordinarily early 

medieval hall. They published an account of the building in The Proceedings of the 

Suffolk Institute of Archaeology and this effectively drew attention to its plight.     

 

Having received a copy of the Colman report, the Royal Commission on  Historical 

Monuments wrote to Sir John Smith asking him if it was the sort of  building that the 

Landmark Trust would be interested in and he visited the site  in the Autumn of 1967. 

The next year he met Mr Slater, the owner of Purton Green, and the Trust bought the 

freehold in 1969 for £500. Work began in August, 1970 and at the end of 1971 the first 

Landmark visitors moved in.   

 

In the 1971 Handbook, John Smith described Purton Green as ‘one of the most 

important buildings owned by the Landmark Trust - a mid-thirteenth century timber-

framed hall-house.’ More pedantically, what we have here is in fact the core of that first 

house, within and around which successive phases of repair and alteration have been 

carried out - most recently in 1970-71. Purton Green is none the less important for that, 

and the discovery in 1970 of the arcade at the low end of the hall puts it among the 

rarest of the rare.   

 

The hall itself can be dated to the 13th century chiefly by the two cross frames. These 

support the roof by means of what are known as scissor-braces (or more correctly 

passing-braces), from their criss-cross form, a method widely used in manorial houses 

between 1150 and 1300. Recorded examples of this type of construction, although 

growing in number, are still few. This is due not only to their great age, but also to the 

fact that around 1300, the method was superseded by arch-bracing and crown-posts 

both on grounds of taste, and of greater strength. Most early halls were rebuilt, or were 

altered in one way or another, and survive only as fragments, as here.   

                                                 
1 Richard Harris, Discovering Timber-Framed Buildings, 1978 
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Purton Green in 1969, before restoration. 
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At Purton Green, the walls and north end were rebuilt soon after 1400, and the south 

end was rebuilt about 1600. At the same time, as in nearly all small medieval halls, an 

upper floor and chimney stack were inserted, and all signs of early origin vanished from 

sight for over 300 years. In 1970, these later additions were removed to reinstate the 

open hall. 

 

When Purton Green was opened in 1971, visitors were provided with an architectural 

account based on the new understanding of the building and its development as revealed 

during the restoration; and some details of the restoration itself, along with photographs. 

These notes were written by the architect for the restoration, John Warren, with help 

from R.T. Mason, an authority on timber buildings who acted as consultant for the work. 

Since then, some visitors have asked for a less technical description and history. One or 

two enterprising spirits took this a stage further. Wanting  to find out about the previous 

inhabitants of the house, and a little of their way of life, they travelled to the West 

Suffolk Record Office at Raingate Street, in Bury St. Edmunds, and wrote up their 

findings in the Log Books or left them in a binder in the desk.   

 

Apart from these researches, one or two specialists have since visited and made new 

observations in the light of the growing knowledge of early timber-framed houses. Most 

importantly, John Walker has provided the probable solution to the tricky question of the 

building's appearance before the rebuilding of its outer walls in the 15th century. For 

those who wish to understand the house fully, his account with drawings, is placed in a 

separate Reader Volume along with the Colmans' original report. Although now outdated 

in several respects, that first account is still useful and illuminating. Moreover, without it 

the restoration might never have taken place.   

 

This new album of 1992, written 21 years after the restoration of the  building, attempts 

to bring together all this available material in a manner that is comprehensible to the 

interested layman, while at the same time  providing the building with more of a 

background than was previously the case. 
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Historical Summary 
 

About 1270-80   

A new house built, possibly by Walter de Priditon, Steward to the Earl Marshal, 

who held the manor of Priditon or Purton Hall in 1275. The house was timber-

framed, with a thatched roof, its central open hall about thirty feet long. An open 

truss, strengthened by passing-braces, stood half way along to support the roof. 

The rafters continued beyond the main posts to cover ‘aisles’ on either side, 

making the hall nearly as wide as it was long. There was an open hearth for a fire 

in the southern half, and smoke escaped through vents at one or both ends of the 

main ridge of the roof. A second, ‘closed’, truss at the north or low end of the 

hall formed a partition between it and a probably two-storey end bay, with pantry 

and buttery on the ground floor and sleeping space above. In the lower part of 

this partition was an arcade of six arches, three blind and three with doors. At 

the south or high end of the hall there may also have been private rooms for the 

owner's family, but evidence for them has been lost in later rebuilding.   

 

1400-50  Outer walls rebuilt some two feet inside the old for greater height, 

reducing  the width of the aisles, and of the outer arches of the arcade in the low 

end partition. North end upper floor rebuilt and extended with a jetty, and roof 

altered to give more headroom. Partition between low end and hall plastered, 

arcade mutilated and covered up, a stair built in one of the central doorways, and 

a plaster flue introduced above the collar to take smoke from the hall.    

 

About 1600  Purton Green now a farmhouse, if a prosperous one. Floor inserted 

into the open hall, and a chimney built just south of the central truss. A new front 

door enters a lobby beside the chimneystack. The entire south end rebuilt, with a 

parlour on the ground floor, which had a projecting oriel window. As at the north 

end, the first floor area was increased by means of a jetty.     
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18th century and later  From before 1780 until the late 19th century Purton 

Green Farm was occupied by  the Pratts. Gradual updating of interior, walls 

replastered, new fireplaces, front doorcase and door, windows, etc. Chimney 

added north end. Wing added on north-east corner is not shown on the 1840 

Tithe Map, so is presumably later.   

 

1970-71 Isolated and uninhabited for many years, Purton Green was derelict and 

decayed when bought by the Landmark Trust in 1969. Later additions were 

stripped away to reveal the early structure, which was then repaired, and missing 

elements replaced where structurally or visually necessary. New accommodation 

was fitted into the Elizabethan south end, leaving the earliest parts of the building 

minimally restored, and open for inspection and summer use. The architect was 

John Warren of APP in Horsham, Sussex, while R.T. Mason acted as consultant. 

The builders were Clement Theobald and Sons of Long Melford, with John 

Partridge as foreman carpenter. 

 

An Account of the Building 

 

The Early Hall    

It was probably late in the reign of Henry III (1216-1272), or early in that of his 

son Edward I (1272-1307) that the first house at Purton Green was built. Its 

durability and good construction suggest that the original owner was a person of 

some prosperity. Almost all such houses were swept away over the next two 

centuries, as new methods of construction became widespread. The survival of 

even a fragment of an earlier house is therefore a great rarity.   

 

It takes an effort of the imagination to picture the house as it was before 1300, 

particularly from outside. The building, which runs from north to south, was some 

four or five feet wider than it is today, though probably of roughly the same 

length. Most noticeably, the roof would have swept down to within six or seven 

feet of the ground. At the north end, at least, the slope of the roof would have 
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ended short of the main ridge, leaving an open gablet for smoke to escape, 

probably through some sort of protective hood. The walls were probably of 

closely spaced (close-studded) timbers, not unlike the existing walls. The doors 

were in the same positions as now, just further out.  

 

Once inside, the early house becomes easier to understand, because the room 

you enter has returned to something like its earliest state, in all but actual 

measurements. This being a hall-house, at its centre both physically and socially 

was the hall in which you are standing, open to the roof as now. This was the 

main living area. At the north end of the building was a low or service area and 

across the hall at the other end there was, very probably, a high or private family 

end. The low end almost certainly had a first floor, and no doubt the high end did 

too. The main door to the house was thus at the low end of the hall, with the 

service area immediately to the left and another outside door directly opposite on 

the other side of the house. Immediately noticeable are the two columns or posts 

near the present south end of the hall, with similar posts buried in the partition at 

the northern end. These are arcade posts, because Purton Green was what is 

called an aisled hall. Roof trusses (the heavy A-shaped structures supporting the 

roof) can only span a limited width. If a wider floor area is wanted, extra space 

can only be gained outside the posts that support the trusses, thereby adding two 

side aisles flanking the central area, or nave.   

 

The length of a hall-house was divided by its roof trusses into bays. In the hall 

itself, there were generally two such bays, of roughly equal length, divided by a 

central open truss. This was once the case here, too:  the freestanding arcade 

posts were once at the centre of the hall, which ran on some ten feet beyond the 

modern brick end wall. Although reduced now to one and a bit bays, the 

existence of two full bays is proved by two features.  Firstly, in 1970, the original 

open hearth was discovered under the floor of the present sitting room, where it 

can still be seen under a trap door in front of the fireplace. This is exactly where 

one would expect the original fire to have been in a two bay hall, in the centre of 



                                                                           Purton Green History Album 

 13

the high end. Secondly, on every truss in a timber-framed building there is an 

upper and a lower face. The upper was the ‘show’ face and was therefore more 

highly finished. Here this is on the southern side, as you would expect if the usual 

custom was followed of the master of the house and his family taking their meals 

at the high end of the hall. The northern bay is 15 feet long, and the southern 

would have been at least as long, or possibly longer. The length of the hall as a 

whole was therefore 30 feet or more. Moreover, on either side of the arcade 

posts, which are also 15 feet apart in width, the aisles extended for about 

another 6ft. 6in. so that the hall as a whole measured very nearly 30 foot square, 

and was of considerable size and dignity therefore.    

 

Proof that the original walls were set wider than the existing ones can be found 

by looking at the low end partition immediately beside the west door.  The middle 

rail has been literally cut off on the outer wall side, leaving the arch below 

unequal. Equally, the far right hand opening in this frame is much narrower than 

the four central openings. 

 

John Warren and R.T. Mason supposed that the original outer wall had been only 

just outside the existing one, allowing for one complete arch. In 1970, only a few 

timber-framed aisled buildings had been found and studied, however, so they 

were very much working in the dark. As John Walker admits in his account, there 

are still four possible interpretations. However, he points out the disadvantages of 

the first suggested position, and puts forward what is a more likely theory, which 

allows the aisle a more normal width and design.   

 

How the hall was lit, we cannot now know for sure, but the windows are likely to 

have been at the high end of the hall. It is believed that some aisled halls had an 

oriel, or tall dormer window, rising through the eaves.  The level of light in the 

main body of the hall today is probably close to what it was originally, though 

possibly a little on the dark side. 
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Wheat Barn, Cressing Temple, Essex, c 1255. Purton Green probably  
looked like a smaller version of this, with gabled roof, low eaves and close-

studded walls of the aisles that surround the main structure. 
 

 

Different types of aisled building and the names 
of their parts, from Timber Buildings in Britain, R.W. Brunskill. 
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From Suffolk Houses, Eric Sandon 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Low, or service, end partition of early   
14th century Baguley Hall, Cheshire 
(from The English Medieval House,  
Margaret Wood, 1965) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Low, or service, end partition of 
early 14th-century Baguley Hall, 

Cheshire (from The English 
Medieval House, 

Margaret Wood, 1965) 

Nunstead Court, Kent, looking towards 
low end of the stone-walled aisled hall, 
before alterations of c 1837 (Domestic 
Architecture in England, Parker, 1853) 
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Decoration of the hall     

That Purton Green was, when built, a house of some importance is born out by 

the quality of detail within it. This can be seen in the carved capitals of the 

arcade posts, and by the complex patterns formed by the passing-braces, of 

which Philip Aitkens in An Historical Atlas of Suffolk (1989) has written in 

general that  

‘the decorative value of these passing-braces was used to the full:  visitors 
to high quality halls ... would have been greatly impressed by soaring 
geometrical patterns of chevrons and saltires.’  

 

Even more impressive, perhaps, was the ornamental treatment of the north end 

partition.   

 

Within the low end closed truss (the area between the timbers being filled in 

rather than left open like the central truss) evidence was found in 1970 for an 

arcade with six arches of equal height. The elegance and sophistication of this 

design, which has been partially restored (and is reconstructed fully in drawings 

of the hall by Messrs Warren and Mason and John Walker), was obviously meant 

to be enjoyed from the high end of the hall.  

 

No other arcade quite like it has yet been found in an aisled hall, though at Great 

Bricett Priory in Suffolk there is a reduced version, which Pevsner described as 

being of the ‘highest interest’, and dateable by dogtooth carving to before 1300. 

Highly decorative low end partitions are found in halls in the north-west, 

however, such as Baguley in Cheshire; and at Nurstead Court, Kent, a very grand 

aisled hall, three doors were once flanked by two blind arches.   

 

The Purton Green arcade might once have been even more ornate than it is now, 

with its octagonal posts and capitals. In John Warren's words: 

The halved joints on the posts and beam provide evidence of the Gothic 
arcading, which has been partially restored with plain surfaces on the arch 
members, although the originals may have been decorated with mouldings. 
Careful examination of the posts and beam shows the original chamfer and 
even the incised curve to which it was set.  
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Three of the arches were doorways, two in the middle and one next to the east 

wall. On the back of the east arcade post, at least, is a rebate for a door, which 

opened inwards. The backs of the other posts have been cut away, but the worn 

sole plate, forming the doorstep, provides evidence of their long use. A groove in 

the same sole plate, and in the rail above showed that the other three arches had 

plank infill, as now.   

 

It is more than likely that these surfaces, and others in the hall as well, had 

painted decoration. More and more evidence is being collected to show that such 

buildings were not left in the plain colours of wood or stone and plaster that we 

have become used to, but were richly coloured in a variety of naturally available 

shades. 

 

At the ends of the hall     

The three doors in the low end arcade certainly did not open into fresh air, but 

because the area beyond has been rebuilt, it is hard to say exactly where each of 

them led. It is likely that the two central doors opened into two service rooms, of 

which there were normally two in a house of this size by the 13th century:  a 

buttery for beer, bread and butter and a pantry for bacon, and dry household 

stores, such as meal and flour. It was common for these service doors to be 

arranged symmetrically, partly for ceremonial reasons, so that the servants 

bringing food into the hall could form a procession.   

 

The third door is in the most likely position, too, for a stair to the original upper 

floor of the low end bay. However, you would not in that case expect the door to 

have opened inwards - the stair would have had to be set well back, or be little 

more than a ladder. It is possible that there was in fact no upper floor, as in some 

other early hall-houses. This door might have opened into a passage which led via 

a door in the north end to a detached kitchen building. Such ‘outside’ kitchens 

were common, because of the risk of fire, and would have been one of a whole 

complex of lesser buildings which clustered round the main hall. Again, examples 
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have been found in early medieval halls where a third door was definitely for a 

kitchen passage. 

 

Assuming that there was a first floor, this would have provided sleeping space for 

members of the household. The room would have been smaller than it is now. 

When you are in it you can see the ends of the arcade plates, which run the 

length of the building along the top of the arcade posts, ending about six feet 

beyond the closed truss. The two ends of these plates were joined by a tie beam. 

This, in turn, supported the rafters of the hipped end gable of the roof, which 

sloped up from floor level to the collar or upper cross-beam joining the pair of 

rafters immediately north of the closed truss.   

 

It was thought that there had in the earliest stage been no partition between the 

first floor and the main body of the hall. This was because there is smoke 

blackening from the open hall fire on the pair of original rafters directly north of 

the truss, and on the underside of the tie-beam and collar. However, John Walker 

suggests that there was a plank partition which distorted, allowing smoke to seep 

through the gaps.   

 

We know nothing of the original high end of this building, though if there was a 

two-storey bay at the low end of the hall, there would surely have been a similar 

bay at the high end. There might even have been a cross-wing. There would have 

been two rooms, one downstairs for storing the owner's valuables, and above it a 

general bedroom and social area for the family. The concept of separate 

bedrooms and living rooms was unknown in the 13th century. 
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Discovery of the mutilated low end arcade in 1970. 

 

 

Close up of arcade, in which the mortices for the arcade pieces can be seen. 
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The first rebuilding 

In the first half of the 15th century a major rebuilding of the outer walls took 

place, giving the northern half of the house its present appearance. There were 

probably two reasons for this. The first is that by 1400, narrower halls, with tall 

side walls and large windows, were more popular and fashionable. The passing-

braced truss had long been abandoned in favour of the arch-brace and crown 

post, which gave better longitudinal support.   

 

The aisled hall, with its low eaves, was poorly lit in comparison. The owners of 

Purton Green may not have wanted to go to the expense of a total rebuilding, but 

by moving the side walls further in, they could gain some of the advantages of 

the later halls:  the new walls were taller, and larger windows could be inserted, 

such as that surviving in the east wall, discovered under the plaster in 1970 

complete with mullions and with a groove for a sliding shutter above it.      

 

Another reason was purely structural. The walls of the first house rested on a 

number of huge timbers laid directly on the ground, with no protection from 

damp. Over the years these would have rotted, putting great strain on the outer 

walls and the trusses. The deflection of the sole plate in the low end partition, 

which is some four inches lower at its outer ends than in the centre, is evidence 

of this settlement.  

 

The new walls were more prudently built on a brick plinth, and John Warren 

found evidence that they were built up inside the old ones, so that the roof was 

already supported when these were removed. This lies in the fact that the middle 

rail of the partition ‘remains projecting through the wall where it was sawn off. 

Had the outer wall first been removed it would have been convenient to cut the 

plate short and build the wall past it.’   
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Late medieval window uncovered in east wall of hall. 

 

Late medieval smoke blackened plaster in low end. Closed truss  
found in roof space above first floor ceiling. 
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The lower part of the north, or end, wall seems to have been rebuilt pretty nearly 

where the old wall was, but the opportunity was taken to extend the first floor by 

means of a jetty or overhang, and the floor joists were rearranged to fit. The 

upper room, instead of lying under the sloping roof, now had four upright walls. 

The early window in the north wall was found under the plaster. At the same 

time the roof hip was pushed out by the insertion of two further pairs of rafters.  

 

In the closed truss, the gothic arcade was removed - perhaps it had been 

damaged by settlement - and the partition either panelled or plastered. A new 

stair was built in one of the central doorways, where the present stair is. The 

earlier plank partition in the upper part of the closed truss was replaced in plaster. 

The section between the tie beam and collar survives, with its heavy smoke-

blackening on the hall side, which dates it to the time when there was still an 

open fire in the hall. The lower part was later replaced with the existing rather 

poor quality stud wall.  

 

Above the collar beam, in the apex of the truss, a wattle and daub flue was 

introduced, so that the upper chamber did not fill with smoke. There may  have 

been a greater volume of smoke in the hall by now, because in 1970 traces  were 

found of a second hearth, perhaps intended for cooking, sited towards the  east 

side of the northern bay of the hall.   

 

Other possible alterations in the hall at this period are shrouded in mystery. In the 

apex of the central truss is a small area of early plaster, heavily smoke blackened 

on its northern side. This might be evidence of a smoke bay in the northern half 

of the hall, with the open truss filled in above the arcade posts to act more 

effectively as a funnel. Several examples of such smoke bays are known to date 

from the later Middle Ages. And it just might have been combined with an upper 

floor inserted in the southern bay.   
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The jettied north end, after plaster was stripped off in 1970. 
 A window with original mullions emerged on the first floor. 
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On the other hand, there is a possibility that the smoke bay itself was in the 

southern bay, although the lack of smoke blackening on that side argues against 

this. The reasons for it, as described by John Warren, are: 

a series of deep burns in the southern side of the great central truss. Oak, 
particularly such old oak, burns very slowly - some 3/8’ per hour - and 
these burn marks are therefore much more than the result of a thatch fire. 
It may conceivably have happened that the earlier southern section of the 
building burned down and in the process some roof timbers burned against 
the truss for several hours. Alternatively, and perhaps more likely, a wattle 
and daub smoke bay was formed by infilling the trusses above the open 
fire. Burning soot could easily have started a smouldering fire sufficient to 
char the braces before discovery. Lack of conclusive evidence leaves the 
question of what really happened in the realms of enjoyable speculation. 
  
 

The supposed high end bay was presumably rebuilt at the same time, with a  

similar jetty to that on the north, perhaps incorporating the carved dragon post 

which is now stored in the north chamber. This was found reused as a prop in 

the later stairwell, and may not come from this building at all. If it does it would 

have been at the south-west corner of the house, supporting a jetty which 

continued from the south end along part of the main, or west, front.   

 

Also built into the stair, probably when it was itself rebuilt in the 19th century, 

were a number of late medieval window mullions. Some of these were used in 

the south-east window of the hall; the others are in the north chamber.   

 

After this rebuilding, Purton Green would still have functioned in the  same way 

as it did before, if rather more in line with the latest ideas of comfort. The hall 

was still the centre of the house, there were still two doors forming a cross-entry 

at its low end, and heat came from an open fire.  More radical changes were still 

more than a century in the future. 
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More major alterations 

It is likely that by the end of the Middle Ages Purton Green was already a house 

of lower social status than it had been when first built. The wealth that poured 

into East Anglia at that time seems to have passed it by - luckily, because it is for 

this reason it has come down to us. The next phase of modernisation did not take 

place until the very end of Queen Elizabeth's reign, around 1600. By then, it 

would have been seen as very old-fashioned for an owner of any prosperity, and 

had probably been a farmhouse for several decades.   

 

This new alteration was radical, consisting of the rebuilding of the south end, the 

full flooring in of the hall and the insertion of a chimneystack, seemingly all at one 

go. By then, at all levels of society, open fires were considered inconvenient and 

chimneystacks became common. With the smoke being  directed up through a 

purpose-made chimney and no longer having to find its way  through the roof of 

the hall, this could be divided into two storeys, thereby  greatly enlarging the 

floor space of the house. Very often, new chimneys were built on or near the old 

hearth, and this is what happened at Purton Green.    

 

The chimneystack was built between and to the south of the central hall truss. 

The fireplace in the present sitting room represents its southern face; the carved 

lintel was discovered in that position in 1970. In the process of construction, the 

shafts of the two southern arcade posts were cut away just below their capitals. 

They were left supported by beams running into the chimneystack, a complicated 

arrangement which leaves it unclear why the posts were not simply left in 

position. Possibly the western one, at least, would have restricted the space in 

the new entry lobby that now lay on the west side of the chimney breast.    

 

The new front door was better placed than the medieval door for the rearranged 

plan of the house, since from the lobby inside it doors opened both  into the room 

in the lower part of the hall, probably now the farmhouse  kitchen, and into a 

new parlour at the south end of the house.    
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Separated from the rest of the building by the chimneystack, the rebuilt south 

end was almost an independent structure. Its chief characteristic, John Warren 

pointed out, was that it was not as wide as the northern end:       

because, of course, it was not an aisled structure, and hence its maximum       
width was determined by the timbers available for ties and girders. But in 
order to maintain a smooth and uniform face to the green the reduction in 
width was accommodated by an offset of about 3ft on the east (back) 
side. This also meant that the ridge of the new section was off-centre by 
half this amount, a discrepancy hardly noticeable while the chimney stood 
between the two structures. Today, however it results in a distinctive quirk 
in the roofline. The chimney was built on the centre line of the later, 
southern building, fairly conclusive evidence that the two were built at the 
same time. 
 

The chimneys themselves were similar to ones at Cordell Hall, a short distance to 

the north of Purton Green, dateable to about 1600. The framing of the south end 

is also typical of that date, with closely set studs and diagonal braces visible 

inside (although missing upstairs). Further evidence comes from the crudely 

carved capital of the western post supporting the main beam running across the 

sitting room. This is trying to show a knowledge of the Italian Renaissance, which 

is unlikely to have been heard of in a yeoman farmer's house before 1600 (the 

Colmans suggested it was carved later, but John Warren and  R.T. Mason 

thought it original). At the same time, the carving of the fireplace lintel is unlikely 

to be much later than 1600.  

 

The south end also has a jetty, and a fine set of windows. The larger, barred ones 

would have been unglazed, with sliding shutters, and the grooves for these are 

clearly visible. There are also in the south end two smaller windows on the first 

floor which would have had glass in them. On the ground floor there was a 

projecting bay window, or oriel. The peg holes for fixing this can be seen on the 

outside, with sockets for the brackets. 

 

The eaves line of the south end was slightly higher than the older part, so the 

eaves along the rest of the west side were raised up level with it. This also made 

space for larger first floor bedroom windows in the centre and at the north end. 
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The South West arcade post cut away when the chimney stack was inserted. 
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At the back of the house, only small windows were needed to light the stair and 

a jumble of larders and cupboards, so the eaves on this side were left at the late 

medieval height.   

 

With all this work, Purton Green was changed into a typical farmhouse of the late 

16th or early 17th century. Then or later, the outside of the house was plastered, 

and the rooms and fittings changed their appearance and use to suit changing 

fashions. The front door and its surround were renewed in the 18th century, as 

were some windows, while others were renewed again in the 19th century, when 

the stair was also rebuilt. A single-storey extension was built on the north-east 

corner, probably after 1840 as it does not appear on the highly detailed Tithe 

Map of that year.   

 

At one time, the parlour seems to have been equipped with a spit engine.  The 

hole at the right hand end of the lintel was, as Jill Lever pointed out in the 1977 

Logbook, for the rod that held it. Yet from the 18th century at least, when the 

north chimney was added, the kitchen was at the other end of the building, with 

a new fireplace, and the parlour returned to its proper use. Then again, in this 

mixed farming country, the north room, with its brick floor and outside door, 

might once have been a dairy. None of these changes were structural, however, 

and most were superficial. It was basically still that same Elizabethan farmhouse 

that Landmark acquired in 1969.  
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The High End truss before the removal of the first floor and chimney stack. 
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Building materials at Purton Green 

In his book Suffolk Houses, Eric Sandon observed that:      

Suffolk builders made a domestic architecture by understanding the use of 
primitive materials - this achievement underlies a deep harmony between 
the landscape and its traditional buildings. Thus if you use the materials the 
local landscape provides you with, the result will be pleasing. The most 
usual type of timber used for building was oak.  Having chosen his tree, 
the carpenter would arrange for the wood to be sawn up. This would be 
done either over a pit with one man below and one above, or on a tressle. 
The wood was used within a year or two of felling.    

 

The walls at Purton Green are what we call close-studded, that is with the pieces 

of timber set vertically, fairly close to one another. Those that exist now are 

15th-century; we do not know what the original walls were like, although they 

were possibly also close-studded. This form of building was universal in East 

Anglia and may have originated here, but by the middle of the 15th century it 

was in common use in towns and buildings of high status all over the country. It 

was expensive in timber because so many pieces were used but the spaces to be 

filled in between the timbers were consequently smaller.   

 

The most common way of filling these spaces was with wattle and daub which  

appears to have been the method used at Purton Green. Between two close- 

studded timbers sharp oak staves (or small spars) were slotted at one end into a 

line of holes and at the other into a continuous groove. In East Anglia the staves 

were set horizontally and onto this frame were tied ash or hazel wattles. The 

wattle panel was then daubed on both sides with plaster:  a mixture of clay, dung 

and chopped straw, well mixed and as dry as possible (to avoid shrinkage). These 

panels were then limewashed or painted, which protected them from damp and 

decay, if renewed regularly.   
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There is no evidence that colouring the timbers black was widespread before the 

19th century. They were probably left in their natural state and were left to 

weather to a natural silver grey. Where paint was used to pick out the pattern, 

earth red or ochre seems as likely as black. The intervening panels were probably 

a soft ochre from an impure lime coating or pink from the admixture of sand.  

 

The most normal form of roofing for Suffolk buildings until the 14th and 15th 

centuries was thatch. Reeds were not hard to come by in a county with a number 

of rivers and a considerable coast-line. Sedge (a type of grass) and corn stalks 

also provided roofing material until tiles became another popular option. 
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Purton Green in 1965, before restoration. 
 

 
During restoration.  
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The Landmark Trust Restoration of Purton Green 

 

It has only been in the last twenty years that conservation generally has become 

a burning issue. As a result, public interest in architecture has gathered strength - 

the Log Book comments about our restoration of Purton Green, which some have 

regarded as controversial, are witness to this. Twenty two years and nearly 150 

buildings on, it is interesting to speculate on whether our approach to restoring 

the house today would be a different one.   

 

In two ways it is possible that it might be. A younger architect, perhaps a 

S.P.A.B. Scholar, might have a different, perhaps less rigorous, approach to the 

finishes of the building - an adze might be used for shaping the new oak rather 

than a machine-saw. Secondly, our use of the house might not be quite the 

same. One of the reasons for tucking the living quarters into the south end was 

to leave the hall always open to the interested public, so that those other than 

the customers of the Landmark Trust might enjoy this particularly special room. 

Were we beginning work today, we might try to find a way of making it practical 

and comfortable to use the whole building, whilst making sure that the public 

could have access during Open Days.  

 

When we began work at Purton there was no indication from the outside of the 

importance of the house, or its early origin. The exterior walls had been plastered 

over, covering the timbers, and the inside divided up. All these later accretions 

were in derelict, almost tottering, condition, but quite apart from the great cost 

involved in repairing them, there was a clear case for taking away such later 

features so that the original 13th-century hall - a structure of overwhelming 

importance - could be seen and understood clearly. Without a shadow of doubt, 

this is a decision that we should also make today.   

 

The first job was to unpick the fabric leaving only the timber frame.  Discoveries 

quickly followed, of which the most exciting was the evidence in the low end 



                                                                           Purton Green History Album 

 38

partition for the arcade. Another was the hearth, which proved the existence of 

the second bay of the hall. Mortices in the arcade posts told their story of missing 

beams and braces. Gradually the structural history of the building became clearer.  

 

 

 

The exterior plaster removed, September 1970. 
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Then began the task of putting it all together again. The front wall of the hall was 

so decayed, and damaged by later alterations, that there was no choice but to 

rebuild it entirely, using what evidence could be gleaned from surviving timbers 

for its original form. The opportunity was taken to extend the eaves to what had 

been their medieval depth, similar to that on the back of the building, which had 

remained unaltered. The different levels now serve to distinguish the three main 

building phases. 

 

Elsewhere, the frame was carefully repaired, reusing as much of the old timber as 

possible, and only using new to replace missing sections. Throughout the 

restoration a strict philosophy was followed by John Warren, that ‘where new 

material has been introduced, it is of a type which allows it to be readily identified 

and dated.’ So, ‘new timbers have been left with a surface which permits them 

always to be identified as replacements. The major timbers are machine-sawn and 

the joinery timber is machine-planed and sanded.’   

 

A clear example of this approach is seen in the central (now the south) hall truss, 

where the arcade posts had been cut away. It had been intended to cut the 

replacement posts to the octagonal profile shown by those surviving in the low 

end partition. ‘On reflection, we left them as inserted by the carpenter. 

Imagination must shape them down to a pristine line. The capitals, however, 

were repaired, and no effort is required to see them complete.’   

 

The repair of the low end, and particularly of the arcade, raised a number of 

difficulties. The low end itself assumed its present form in the later Middle Ages 

(although the base of an 18th-century chimney has been left as evidence of later 

changes). So little evidence exists for its earliest arrangement, that any 

reconstruction - of a stair on the east side for example - would have been entirely 

conjectural. The late medieval stair was to be rebuilt, therefore, using timber 

salvaged from the bell-frame of Sudbury church. This decision, in turn, had 

implications for the repair of the arcade. 
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View of the roof to the south after removal of stack. 
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The evidence was there for the arcade's complete reinstatement. However, it had 

been severely mutilated, and the doorways altered, in one case to allow 

headroom for the same stair that was now to be rebuilt. The solution was to 

reinstate the three arches which we knew to have been blank, giving the posts 

their capitals, and restoring the plank infill; and to leave the doors in their altered 

condition. Like the hall itself, what is left is a fragment which we  can 

understand, which amazes us by its very existence 700 years on, but which  

bears the scars of a long life.   

 

The hall as found consisted of just one bay. Removal of floor and chimney stack 

allowed the surviving 13th-century structure to be seen complete, with the 

central truss free-standing. There was no question of any further reconstruction. 

The Elizabethan south end is both part of Purton Green's history, and a complete 

and satisfying whole in itself - though the kink in the roof ridge revealed when the 

chimney was taken down taxed the ingenuity of the thatchers. In rebuilding the 

wall between the two, the parlour fireplace found in the process, with its carved 

lintel and brick jambs, was left in place. Unfortunately, in a timber and thatch 

building of such rarity, the risk of a real fire is too great - another reason for not 

keeping the chimney. 

 

Wherever possible, materials salvaged from the building were re-used. So the wall 

between hall and south end is built of bricks from the chimney stack.  The hall 

floor is covered with the existing locally-made pammets and the floors of the two 

service rooms with brick, most of which were there already. In the roof, smoke-

blackened (therefore medieval or Tudor) thatching spars, found reused in various 

parts of the roof, were reused again. Window mullions found in the 19th century 

stair were used for a new window in the south-east corner of the hall. Places 

were found for six old doors, with hinges, in the southern end, fitted with new 

Suffolk latches made by a local blacksmith. Other salvaged fragments, such as 

the carved dragon beam of uncertain origin, are stored in the upper chamber of 

the low end.   
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A number of 18th and 19th-century doors and windows were blocked up, and 

some late medieval or Elizabethan windows were reopened. John Warren took 

great care to see that ‘only original openings were used to light the building.’ The 

exception is that in the south-east corner of the hall without which it would have 

been very dark. There was, unfortunately, no evidence for a medieval window in 

the west wall of the hall.    

 

The window in the east wall of the hall, and those in the north elevation, still had 

their original mullions, which had been protected from the weather behind plaster. 

The others were given new mullions. All but the two small windows in the south 

elevation were originally unglazed, so the plainest and least obtrusive of metal  

lights were inserted, to maintain the illusion. They were made by the same 

blacksmith who made the door latches. To have restored the oriel window in the 

south end would have involved too much conjecture, so another simple metal 

window was fitted instead, to the same measurements.   

 

The new living quarters are self-contained and easily-warmed. The new partitions, 

and stair, make no pretence to be other than what they are, additions of 1971. 

Great care was taken to place the stair in an area of floor that was beyond repair, 

however. And the open hall still plays its part in the life of those who stay here, 

as a space to cross, to hold feasts in, or - as in the past - as a dry place to play. 

The shuttered opening outside the bathroom serves as a viewing gallery, allowing 

a high-level and close-up view of the rich early carpentry of the roof. On a prosaic 

note, its other function is to make the landing a ventilated air-space off which the 

bathroom opens.  Much of the above information has been gained from notes 

made in 1971/2 by the architect, John Warren. 
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The East elevation before and during restoration. 
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The present sitting room in 1969, with a 19th-century fireplace and  
a door to the entrance lobby where the stairs now are. 

 

The very decorative fireplace lintel was discovered when plaster was stripped 
away and has been left in situ.  
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First floor of the South end in 1969, then just one room. 
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The farmhouse kitchen occupying the ground floor of the  
medieval hall, looking south. 

 

 

Ground floor room at the North end, looking south.  
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North side of north-east arcade post, and arcade plate, in north east first 
floor room. 

Carved dragon post built into a 
cupboard below the stairs. 

South side of north-east arcade  
post, hidden in a cupboard. 
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Section A – A - through South end. 
 Looking North at north walls of parlour and first floor chamber. 
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Section B-B through centre of building. 
Looking South at south walls of rooms inserted into medieval hall c 1600. 
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Section C-C - through North end.  
Looking South at south wall of north end chambers. 
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Before restoration 

 

 

  



                                                                           Purton Green History Album 

 54

 
From Suffolk in the Middle Ages by Norman Scarfe showing villages 

 with suffix ‘field.’ 
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Living at Purton Green 

 

Suffolk is and always has been a land of farms. Indeed, there is evidence that the 

land at Stansfield was cultivated in the days of the Roman occupation. It has 

been shown that villages with ‘wick’ in their name contain the Old English word 

‘wic’ derived from the Latin word ‘vicus’, a term which came to denote a 

Romano-British site. Wickhambrook, it seems, may be associated with the large 

Roman villa at Lidgate, where the wall footings are visible as crop marks on an 

aerial photograph.   

 

In The Suffolk Landscape, Norman Scarfe develops the same theory on the suffix 

‘field’ in a place name. In early Anglo-Saxon ‘feld’ meant open land which had 

been cleared from forest, presumably by the Romano-British. As the Stansfield 

local historian, Mr Trewhella, has pointed out, with a Roman road running from 

Long Melford via Clare to Haverhill and a Roman villa at Lidgate, it is likely that 

Stansfield was farm land in Roman times. In fact one field in the parish produces 

large numbers of Roman tiles when ploughed.   

 

During the Middle Ages, Purton Green grew up as an isolated hamlet of the parish 

of Stansfield. The most common type of early hamlet in Suffolk consisted of one 

or two farms - larger houses with outbuildings - perhaps a few cottages, 

occasionally a chapel-of-ease but seldom a church. It was thus a small agricultural 

unit. Those hamlets known as ‘Greens’ are by far the most common and were to 

do with the pasturing and security of animals. The Green at  Purton was a wide 

greensward running north from the ford to the other side of  the house known as 

Purton Hall, which stood on a moated site due west of Purton  Green Farm until it 

was demolished in the spring of 1982, after years of decay. 

 

In and around Stansfield there were and are a high proportion of isolated halls:  

Purton, Elms, Stansfield, Thurston, and Swans, to name but a few. The term hall 

came from a common Teutonic source meaning the residence of a territorial 
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proprietor. The large number of halls in Suffolk may be explained by the fact that 

William the Conqueror's Domesday Survey of 1086 showed the county to be the 

most populous in England. Here lived no fewer than 7460 recorded freemen, well 

over half the total recorded for the rest of the country. Land enclosure began 

early in Suffolk with a large number of holdings available to individual freemen, 

with the resulting high number of halls.   

 

The demolished Purton Hall is said to have been Tudor or Elizabethan, but this is 

by no means certain:  we do not know when a house was built on the moated 

site originally. Lionel Munby in East Anglian Studies explains that in the main, 

moated sites may be dated from the 12th to the 15th century with the majority 

dug before 1350. There is a theory that moats are proof of early farm settlements 

as protection for livestock - perhaps the animals were pastured on the green 

during the day and brought over to the moated site at night. On the other hand, 

the island site might have been piled up to provide a dry platform for a house and 

its outbuildings.  

 

What we do know is that Purton, or Priditon, Hall was also the name of a manor, 

or parcel of land, which was a later subdivision of the large early manor of 

Stansfield. This manor may always have been attached to a building on the 

moated site. Equally it might at first have referred to the early aisled hall now 

called Purton Green, which was certainly worthy of manorial status.   

 

There is indeed a possibility that this house was also moated, since its site is 

surrounded by ponds which could be the traces of early excavations later filled in. 

It would be surprising if there were two such houses so close to each other in an 

area which tends towards scattered settlement. The  likelihood is that Purton 

Green was the first manor house or Purton Hall, but  that during the 15th or 16th 

century, its occupiers decided to abandon their  old-fashioned home and build a 

new house close to it, digging a new moat in the  process. The probability that  
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the two houses, though run as separate farms, remained part of the same 

freehold property until recently, supports this view. 

 

The old hall may have been given to a junior, less well off, branch of the family, 

or let to a tenant from the start. Signs that it was no longer a house of high 

status by Tudor times have already been noticed in the architectural description. 

Certainly the late medieval manor house was in general a more substantial 

building than even the remodelled aisled hall.   

 

Purton Green had started life at a prosperous period in the history of Suffolk, 

however. Scarfe has written:  ‘If we could imagine the towns and villages of 

Suffolk at the beginning of the 14th century, we should be astonished at the 

activity and wealth.’ In every village, cottage industries of wool-combing, 

spinning of fine worsted yarn and hempen cloth manufacture flourished. On the 

farms the men of Suffolk tended their sheep and other livestock and harvested 

the rich corn fields.   

 

In about 1300, the nave of Stansfield Church was built and the first recorded 

rector, Thomas Wycheford, was installed by 1303. In 1280 a market had been 

granted at Thurston just outside Hawkedon (in the garden at Hawkedon Hall there 

is the stump of the former village cross). To the people of Purton this must have 

been a great boon for it served a very wide area and would have prevented the 

need to travel the not inconsiderable distances to the markets then in existence at 

Bury, Felsham, Lavenham, Clare, Great Thurlow or Ousden.  Obviously at times it 

would have been necessary to go to larger markets at  Lavenham or Bury St. 

Edmunds.  

 

Bury lies some ten miles north of Purton and was one of the most important 

medieval centres in Britain. Its fame and prosperity were assured when the body 

of the martyred King Edmund (slain by the Danes in AD. 869) came to rest at the 

Abbey. At Henry VIII's dissolution of the monasteries, the great Benedictine  
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Pigot’s Directory of Suffolk showing the old Purton road. 
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Abbey and pilgrimage centre was inferior in wealth only to Westminster, 

Glastonbury, St. Albans, Abingdon and Canterbury. It was also the principal local 

landowner and a place of some national importance:  the Magna Carta curtailing 

the powers of King John was drawn up by the rebellious barons at the Abbey in 

1214 (diplomatically, the Abbot absented himself from the proceedings) and not 

infrequently parliament was held at Bury.  

 

The route the villagers would have taken to Bury is no longer in use.  From the 

centre of Stansfield it ran past our house and then the site of Cordell Hall, via 

Elms Farm, to meet what is now the Bury to Haverhill road opposite Depden. The 

Colmans say in their article that ‘this road was already passing out of use by the 

early 18th century and is recorded later as little more than a track.’ However, it 

was still marked clearly on the county map in Pigot & Co.'s Suffolk Directory of 

1839. The fact that it was not tarmacked when the other roads were means that 

this area retains the atmosphere described so well by John Smith in the entry for 

Purton Green in the 1971 Handbook:   

A car cannot be got closer than four hundred yards, and the house stands in 
the middle of fields with ordinary unchanging Suffolk countryside in all 
directions. The people of the Middle Ages have vanished in every way; we 
do not think or act in the least as they did, which is in some respects a pity. 
The atmosphere of their world is elusive indeed, but compelling and binding 
for those who find it. It is present in full measure here and we hope that 
through the hall at Purton Green, blackened by smoke and time, many will 
enter a world for which they have been looking.  
 

The style of living of the original inhabitants of Purton Green was undoubtedly 

very different from ours. For a start the house itself was one of a group of 

buildings, probably standing within a fenced and moated enclosure. This was a 

farm as well as a manor house, so there would have been barns and byres as well 

as stables and a dovecote, and possibly additional living quarters. With household 

and farm servants, depending on the importance of the owner, there might have 

been anything up to forty people living here.   

 



                                                                           Purton Green History Album 

 60

The hall was the kernel of medieval life, serving several purposes both social and 

ceremonial. The household would meet here most days for dinner after a 

morning's work, at 10 or 11 o'clock, and possibly later in the day for supper. 

Every so often the manorial court would be held under its roof, when petty and 

local misdemeanours were dealt with. It also provided a dry space for working on 

wet days, for conducting business, and no doubt for play as well.   

 

Its walls might have been richly coloured, but the furniture was simple trestle 

tables, stools and benches, with food served in wooden and pottery bowls. The 

fire would be kept going all the time for warmth, and for cooking if there was no 

outside kitchen, fuelled by wood from a stack outside. There was probably a well 

in the yard, otherwise water would have been brought up from the ford. The 

windows at this period were unlikely to have been glazed but would have had 

shutters to keep the worst of the weather at bay.   

 

Living was communal and gregarious, the only concession to privacy being the 

high end for the family. The solar, or private upstairs sitting room, was probably 

warmed by a separate brazier. There may have been a spinning wheel here, and a 

few musical instruments for evening fireside entertainment. 
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Early owners of Purton Green 

W.A. Copinger's The Manors of Suffolk, Volume 5, published in 1909, states that 

the Manor of Priditon Hall ‘was held in 1275 by Walter de Priditon, of Stansfield, 

steward of the Earl Marshal, and later in the reign of Edward I passed to Sir Roger 

de Priditon.’   

 

Today the post of Earl Marshall ranks as the eighth of the great officers of state 

and is held by the Duke of Norfolk. Amongst other duties he arranges state 

processions and ceremonials. In the 13th century the post was known simply as 

Marshal and from 1270 until 1302 was held by Roger Bigod, 7th Earl of Norfolk. 

As steward, Walter de Priditon would have managed some of the Earl's property, 

probably those estates in Suffolk itself, and possibly Norfolk as well. The Earl's 

main castle was at Bungay.   

 

Copinger does not quote the source of his information, but there is one aspect of 

it which does not quite add up. In Inquisitions held on the deaths  of the de 

Clares, Earls of Clare, Hertford and Gloucester, in 1262, 1295 and  1314, all the 

estates held by them directly of the king are listed, manor by  manor, in many 

counties of England and Wales. Among them is Priditon, as well as Stansfield and 

Hawkedon. This is hardly surprising, in that the family's chief manor, and castle, 

was at Clare, five miles to the south. They were bound to have built up an estate 

there, and to have rewarded their followers with grants of land or manors on it.   

 

At the same time, the de Clares would have drawn on the knights and esquires 

on their estates to fill positions in their household. A Walter de Pridition, vassal, 

and thereby steward, to Earl Gilbert de Clare in 1275 makes sense. That a vassal 

of the de Clares should be steward to Roger Bigod, Earl of Norfolk, is a much less 

likely combination. From 1276, it would also have been an uncomfortable one, 

since a dispute over property that year led to a long feud between the two earls, 

which finally broke out into private warfare, and caused the king to put them 

both in prison for a month in 1291 to cool off.   
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Curiously, the Rev J.R. Little in some notes on the parish of Stansfield,  published 

in The Proceedings of the Suffolk Institute of Archaeology in 1900,  does give 

Walter de Priditon as steward of Gilbert de Clare, but also calls de  Clare Earl 

Marshal, which he never was. He also gives conflicting dates, firstly 3 Edward I, 

which is 1275, as in Copinger, but also 1309. Clerical errors easily become 

historical ones.  

 

Walter de Priditon does not appear in public records in these years, but Roger de 

Pridition does. The Patent Rolls record that in 1266 Roger de Priditon was 

granted one year's protection (immunity from arrest) by the king; and in 1275 

Edward I ordered him and Martin de Suthmere to enquire into the fate of 

‘merchandise and goods of Flemings seized, by order of Henry III, during the 

contention between himself and Margaret Countess of Flanders, in the town of 

Lynn.’ The two entries are perhaps connected.   

 

The Close Rolls show that Roger de Priditon held more than just one manor. In 

1275, he and others acknowledged a debt of 60 marks (a mark being 13s 4d) to 

one Robert Fulconis, which could be levied, if they defaulted, from their lands and 

chattels in Norfolk. In 1281, he transferred a manor in Suffolk called Codeham, 

with land in Ouseden and Shimplinge, to Philip de Clopton for 1,000 marks. The 

entry also notes that Roger's wife's name was Joan.   

 

One cannot always be certain that the holder of a manor, especially one  who 

held other manors as well, actually lived in a particular manor house,  rather than 

granting it in turn to someone else. However, the name ‘de Priditon’, which was 

the old name for Purton, does imply that Walter and Roger, who might or might 

not have been his son, did actually come from there. The construction and 

decoration of the aisled hall of Purton Green indicates that it was lived in by 

someone of rank, not a great nobleman but at least a minor one, such as a 

knight. It is safe enough to assume that this was Walter de Priditon's manor 

house; he might even have been its builder.    
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The de Priditons appear again in the Subsidy Return of 1327, when a Peter de 

Priditon is recorded as having paid two shillings. This tax was raised to pay for 

the war against Scotland after the deposition of Edward II. The amount paid 

represents 20% of the payee's taxable property, which might be land, crops, 

livestock, rents and goods. Of the seventeen people paying tax in Stansfield 

(those with goods under the value of five shillings were exempt), Peter de Priditon 

was the seventh richest. It seems likely that he still lived in our building. 

However, the manor was now held by Adam Gatesbury and he paid five shillings, 

the largest amount in the village. The Gatesburys also held the manor north of 

Purton, and were large landowners elsewhere, so it seems unlikely that they lived 

here. Both manors were probably enfefoffed or let to tenants, beginning a long 

existence as small properties on estates whose owners would only have known 

them as entries on an agent's rent roll.   

 

Soon after this tax was levied the Black Death came to England, in 1348. The 

chief effect of the loss of a third of the population was the necessary change in 

farming methods. With no one to work the land, Suffolk became mainly pasturage 

for sheep. Thereby the foundations were laid for the boom in the wool trade from 

which Suffolk and its buildings so conspicuously profited.  

 

A hundred years after the Black Death the manor at Purton Hall was still held by 

heirs of the Gatesbury family. The name of John Twyn occurs as a feoffee or 

tenant. Then at the beginning of the 16th century it seems to have been 

absorbed back into the main manor of Stansfield, which was held by a wealthy 

family from Buckinghamshire, the Broughtons. Sir Robert Broughton died in 1506 

possessed of estates not only in Suffolk but also in Buckinghamshire, 

Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire, Huntingdonshire, Berkshire, Oxfordshire, 

Northamptonshire, Leicestershire, Cornwall and Devon.  
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The manor of Priditon is listed in the Inquisition Post Mortem of Sir Robert's 

estates, along with Denston and some other Suffolk manors, as being held of the 

Abbey of Bury St Edmunds. It is worth £6.13.4, as against Stansfield, which was 

worth œ10. Gatesbury's manor, to the north, had been granted for life in the 

1490s to Robert Drury (now knight then esquire). It was worth £4, consisting of 

200 acres of pasture, 10 acres of meadow, and 20 acres of wood, an indication 

of the monoculture of grazing which still existed.   

 

 
A page from Suffolk in 1327 being in Subsidy Return, published 1906. 
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The Tudors and onwards    

The Broughtons or their heirs owned the Stansfield manors until 1558. By 1564 

they had passed to Henry and Jane Cheyne, but such changes of landowner or  

manorial title would have had little effect on the inhabitants of the parish,  or of 

Purton. Theirs was a close-knit rural society, with the same families occupying 

the different farms in succession, occasionally changing places for one reason or 

another, occasionally rebuilding a house after a profitable year. They seem to 

have consisted largely of yeoman farmers, some of whom would have called 

themselves gentlemen, but no higher than that. The Rev J.R. Little, in his Notes 

of 1900, observes that ‘No families above the rank of small gentry appear to 

have lived in the parish during the last 400 years.’ This is born out by the 

Subsidy Return of 1524. None of the Stansfield taxpayers were worth more than 

£10 in goods, as against Henry Everard of Denston, for example, who was worth 

£160 in goods. John Golding, whose family are later recorded as living at 

Poslingford Hall, was worth £17 in goods. The £10 candidates in Stansfield were 

John Higham, gent, John Westhorp (or Westroppe) and John Butler. William 

Andrew, senior, and Robert Ketton were worth £8, Richard Sparrow £5.6.8 in 

lands, while Jane Sparrow and John Everard were assessed at £4 in goods.  

 

One of these must have been the occupier of Purton Green, and another perhaps 

of the new Purton Hall, if it existed by then. Similarly, our occupiers lie hidden in 

the Hearth Tax returns of 1674. Here again, Stansfield  is shown to have had no 

large house, in comparison to the neighbouring parishes  of Poslingford (Mr 

Golding with 15 hearths) and Denston (Mr Robinson with 18). The largest house 

in Stansfield is Mr Kerington's, or Kedington's, with 7 hearths, which we know to 

be Cordell Hall. Robert Plumbe comes next with 6. He is perhaps the Robert 

Plume (died 1679), youngest son of Edmund Plume of Hawkedon Hall, to whom 

there is a memorial tablet in Stansfield church. 
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The houses of John Pisgoe, Edmund Man and Martin Breeke all had 5 hearths, 

while those of Thomas Osbell, John Flacke, William Rich and Richard Webb had 

4. Purton Green Farm, as it would now have been called, would probably have 

been among these medium-sized dwellings, rather than the small fry of 2 hearths.  

 

Just as the occupiers of Purton Green remain at present a mystery in this period, 

so from the reign of Elizabeth I until the 19th century, there is a hiatus in the 

records of the Manor of Purton Hall. We do, however, know a little more about 

Cordell Hall at this time. It is a late Elizabethan house, and it has been suggested 

that it was erected as the dower house for Long Melford Hall, where Sir William 

Cordell lived in the second half of the 16th century. In White's Directory of 

Suffolk (1844), we learn that ‘The Kedingtons were formerly seated here.’ This is 

confirmed by a plaque in the chancel of the parish church:  a Robert Kedington 

died in 1741 aged 79. His eldest son, Ambrose (b.1700), married Mary Tweed 

and their daughter, Mary, (1739-1813) married Charles Bigg (1724-1798). By 

1780 Mr Bigg had let Cordell Hall and its farm to a Mr Sparrow. In 1840 it was 

owned by Charles Hodges Ware, whose farm steward, Peter Powers, lived there 

in 1851. He was succeeded by John Slater, whose descendants now live in the 

house again, having restored it in 1978.   

 

The Biggs were a local landowning family; Charles had acquired Gatesbury's 

Manor in 1770 and passed it to Bateman Bigg (presumably his son) in 1795. It is 

possible that they had also acquired the Purton Hall Manor and its land.  Copinger 

and Little both mention Bateman Bigg who died ‘possessed of Purton Hall’ in 

1825. It, like Cordell, passed soon afterwards to Charles Ware, who in the Tithe 

Map of 1840 is also listed as owner of Purton Hall Farm. At the same date he 

appears on the register of electors as owning Poslingford Hall, but is listed as 

being of Tavistock Place, London. He was succeeded soon  afterwards by Samuel 

Ware, of Hendon Hall, Middlesex, who in turn left  Poslingford on his death in 

1860 to a nephew, Charles Cumberlege.   
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The Cumberleges had owned land in Stansfield in 1840, so were already 

established in the area, and it seems that Charles, who took the additional name 

of Ware in 1862, lived at Poslingford until his death in 1888. In addition to Purton 

Hall Farm itself, which carried with it the lordship of the manor, we learn from 

title deeds now held by the Landmark Trust, that he also owned Purton Green 

Farm, which was part of a settlement made on him for life in 1870. The deed in 

which this settlement is referred to does not say when Purton Green was 

acquired by the Wares, but very probably at the same time as Cordell and Purton 

Halls. There is good reason to think, therefore, that the two Purton properties 

together made up the single ancient manor of Purton Hall, although later divided 

into two farms, and let or leased to two occupiers.   

 

There may, however, have been another owner in between Bateman Bigg and 

Charles Cumberlege Ware. Copinger says that the manor was ‘later vested in 

Richard Plate, and from him passed to the Cumberlege-Wares.’ Plate must in fact 

be Pratt, which family lived at Purton Green Farm from before 1780. In 1844, the 

first edition of White's Suffolk Directory states that John Pratt is the owner of 

Purton Hall. This must be a mistake, since the tithe records are clear that Charles 

Ware was the owner and Martin Slater the tenant there.    

 

However, John and Richard Pratt certainly existed and with their sister Elizabeth 

farmed Purton Green, succeeding their father who was there in 1780.  In the 

Tithe Map of 1840, Elizabeth is listed as both owner and occupier, but very often 

in tithe maps holders of long leases are classed as owners. If the Pratts ever did 

own the freehold - and Richard Pratt lived on until about 1890 - it is curious that 

there is no mention of it in the deeds.   

 

It is more likely that the late 18th-century owner of the freehold granted a long 

lease based on the lives of Pratt senior, and one or more of his children; that on 

the death of the youngest of these children, Richard, the lease expired and the 

property reverted to the freeholder, who at the time was Charles Cumberlege 
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Ware. The existence of the lease, and the Pratts' long presence at Purton Green, 

served to confuse Copinger. The fact that the farmer of Purton Green was 

credited with a share of the manor serves to confirm the claim of that house to 

be an integral part of the medieval holding, as the original manor house. 
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The Tithe Map for 
part of Stansfield 
showing Purton 
Green Farm in 
1840. 
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The Pratts of Purton Green Farm   

A private pocket book of 1780 provides the first conclusive evidence of the 

inhabitants of our building, by then known as Purton Green Farm. In that  year 

the Rev. Mr Davies, curate, was doing some tithe research for Dr. Warren,  who 

was soon to be the incumbent at Stansfield, and he made notes on all the  farms 

in the parish. Of Mr Sparrow of Cordell, he wrote ‘an honest man with seven 

children’; later we find, ‘Mr Pratt lives next to Mr Sparrow a land's length nearer 

the church. Has but 43 ‘acres in his possession.’ The Pratt family lived at the 

farmhouse until the end of the last century and increased their acreage quite 

considerably, as shown by tithe payments of 1837 and the tithe map of 1840.     

 

Living at the farmhouse when the tithe map was drawn up are Elizabeth Pratt (b. 

1791) and her two younger brothers, John (b.1795) and Richard (b.1806). 

Presumably they are the children of the Mr Pratt of 1780. Elizabeth Pratt seems 

to be farmer in charge: it is definitely her name, rather than that of her younger 

brothers, that appears as owner on the list of tithe payments.  In the Census 

Return of 1851, the household is described as farming 180 acres and employing 

seven men and two boys. Some of these men may have lived in Purton Hall, 

which had been divided into three cottages by the farmer there, Martin Slater, or 

in other cottages in the hamlet. 

 

According to the map, the acres farmed as their own by the Pratts form a strip 

some four or five fields wide east of the old Green, running down as far as the 

stream. As well as some 19 fields, Elizabeth owns the then two cottages by our 

car park (occupied by James Root and Thomas Metcalf). In addition, the family 

farms 21 fields of glebe land (owned by the Church) south of the stream. The 

fields are divided into pasture, for livestock, and arable for grain, a pattern of 

mixed farming established in the area by the 17th century.    

 

White's Directory of 1844 lists the occupations of the inhabitants of Stansfield. 

Apart from thirteen farmers, the parish supports a watchmaker, two shopkeepers,  
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The Pratts’ front door. 
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one of whom is also the carrier to Bury every Wednesday, two wheelwrights, one 

of whom also runs the beerhouse, two shoemakers, one also a victualler, a 

curate, two schoolmistresses, a grocer and draper, a blacksmith,  and the Rev. 

John Rutter of the Independent Church.   

 

The Census of 1851 records 121 males in the parish and 106 females. The small 

community at Purton is almost entirely employed on the land. At Cordell,  Peter 

Powers, a farm steward managing 350 acres, lives with his servants;  moving 

southwards down the old road towards Purton, on the east side there is a  pair of 

cottages lived in by Robert Brown, his wife Susan, a son and three  daughters; 

and Thomas Metcalf (occupation:  pauper). Purton Hall is divided into three 

cottages, all lived in by farm labourers. At the farmhouse, living with the Pratts 

are their niece, Susan Pain, a dress maker, and their nephew John Pain, a 

brewer's clerk.   

 

At the cottages by our carpark there have been some changes since the Tithe 

record. It seems that James Root has died leaving his widow Ellen and their two 

sons. Thomas Metcalf has moved to the cottages between Purton and Cordell 

Hall, leaving it vacant for the Pain family. Ann Pain (b.1796) is the sister of the 

three Pratts at the farmhouse and she is now living with her husband John, a 

cabinet maker born in Clare, and their schoolboy son in the second cottage. Have 

the Pains fallen on hard times, with the Pratts housing their two eldest children at 

the farmhouse?  In the cottages on the south side of the ford, to the west, live 

two more farm labourers and their families.   

 

The next Census does not change radically. Elizabeth Pratt is now described as 

Housekeeper and has retired from farming leaving her brothers in charge; her 

sister and brother-in-law are still living at one of the cottages down the hill. In the 

1871 Census John Slater now lives at Cordell Hall. (The Slaters and Pratts must 

have been related, because in his will, John Slater mentions ‘my brother-in-law  
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Last will and testament of Elizabeth Pratt, dated 1876. 
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Ordnance Survey from 1886.  
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Frederick Charles Pratt.’)  John Pratt has died, and the Pratts' sister Ann Pain is 

now widowed and living with them. 

 

In 1881 John Slater of Cordell Hall has married Emma and they have a little boy, 

Martin, aged two. At the farmhouse, Elizabeth Pratt has now died but Richard 

Pratt, aged 74, still lives there his sister Ann Pain and her daughter, Susan, the 

dress maker. He employs three men and one boy. The last Census of 1891 

records ten households at Purton Green. The Slater family at  Cordell is growing 

fast with three more sons and at the farmhouse Richard Pratt  is described as a 

retired farmer and is looked after there by his niece, Susan,  no longer young 

herself at 58.  

 

In the Suffolk Directory of 1892 there is no mention of Richard Pratt or the farm. 

Although the Cumberlege Wares owned Purton Green Farm until it was sold to 

William Slater in 1961, it seems likely that John Slater of Cordell Hall took on the 

tenancy from Richard Pratt. In 1920 Miss Rose Setchell was born in the 

farmhouse and her father was Mr Slater's shepherd.   

 

In 1941, after Mr Setchell had died, she and her mother moved to one of the 

cottages at Purton Hall. Miss Setchell (now Mrs Rose) visited Purton Green in 

1977 and was amazed and amused by the changes: ‘To think that all this was 

under the wall paper’!  When she lived in the house the garden was surrounded 

by a wall and the exterior was completely covered with plaster, painted Suffolk 

pink. No beams were visible. She used to walk to school in Stansfield - a journey 

she repeated four times a day as she used to come home for lunch. 

 

From 1941-5, Purton Green Farm was lived in by German prisoners-of-war, who 

helped on the Slaters’ farm. After that it was left empty. The Purton Hall cottages 

fell empty at about the same time, as did the pair of cottages east of the track to 

Cordell Hall, which have vanished without a trace. Although the present Mr Slater 

can remember people using the old route to walk to market in Bury, the fact that  
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it never became a road left Purton Green stranded without access. As the 

Colmans wrote in their report on Purton Green:   

‘The isolated position, which evidently served in the past to preserve many 
of the original features of the house, is now proving its downfall.’   

 
Luckily, this did not quite turn out to be the case. Purton Hall and the two 

cottages north of the hamlet, and other farm buildings, have all gone, but the 

farmhouse itself was sold by Mr Slater, in 1969, to the Landmark Trust. Now 

known by default simply as Purton Green, the first arrival has outlived all that 

came after it, and is still going strong.   

 

Julia Abel Smith  

Charlotte Haslam  

Autumn 1992 
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Aisled Halls, by Philip Aitkens, from An Historical Atlas of Suffolk, ed D. Dymond 
& E. Martin, 1989 
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These notes are taken Minor Architecture of Suffolk, edited by Dexter Morand 
and published in 1929.  
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